Brief of Appellant

Filed 02-20-2020

Page 1 of 56

RECEIVED 02-20-2020 CLERK OF COURT OF APPEA OF WISCONSIN

### 

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

RICHARD MICHAEL ARRINGTON,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction of Conviction and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in the Brown County Circuit Court, the Honorable Timothy A. Hinkfuss, Presiding

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

SUZANNE L. HAGOPIAN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1000179

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-5177 hagopians@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

###

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the state violate Richard Arrington's right by outfitting a confidential counsel informant, who was a jail inmate, with a recording device and authorizing the informant to secretly record his conversations with Arrington, against whom the state had filed a criminal complaint charging him with firstdegree intentional homicide?

The circuit court found no violation of Mr. Arrington's right to counsel because it concluded that the confidential informant was not an agent of the state.

2. Is Mr. Arrington entitled to a new trial due to plain error or ineffective assistance of counsel because, with no objection from defense counsel, the state used against Arrington at trial statements that the state's informant obtained and secretly recorded while Arrington was represented by counsel?

Having concluded that the state's conduct in obtaining the statements was not a constitutional violation, the court denied Mr. Arrington's motion for a new trial.

Case 2019AP002065 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-20-2020 Page 8 of 56

## POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Both oral argument and publication warranted because the state's use of a confidential informant to record conversations with jail inmates whose right to counsel has attached is novel but not The issue as to whether this conduct isolated. violates the right to counsel guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, § 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution is novel given that there is only one reported case in this state involving statements obtained by a jail informant. See State v. Lewis, 2010 WI App 52, 324 Wis. 2d 536, 781 N.W.2d 730. And that case did not involve police equipping an informant with a recording device for purposes of obtaining and memorializing as evidence statements from other inmates about the crime for which they had been charged and jailed. The issue is not isolated because in another Brown County case, State v. Powell, Case No. 16-CF-119, a different judge also found that such conduct did not constitute a violation of the right to counsel. (245:11).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

#### Synopsis

Ricardo Gomez died of a single gunshot wound outside a house on Day Street in Green Bay.

(271:122-25; 273:14-15). Four days later, the state charged 20-year-old Richard Arrington with first-degree intentional homicide. (2).

At trial there was no dispute that Mr. Arrington fired several shots from a car toward (271:148-50; 274:106; 275:93-96).the house. state argued to the jury that Arrington's intended target was Rafael Santana-Hermida ("Shorty") because the two were in a "feud," but Arrington's bullet struck Mr. Gomez instead. (276:40, 62-63, Consistent with what he told a detective, 128). Mr. Arrington testified that he fired three shots toward the house after he saw Shorty reaching for a gun, and that it was Shorty's bullet that struck and killed Mr. Gomez. (274:106-07; 275:91-98). The jury heard a different version from Arrington through the state's final witness at the six-day jury trial. (275:10-33; App. 115-38)

That witness was a confidential informant and inmate named Jason Miller ("Butter") who detectives equipped with a recording device and told him he could use to record conversations with Arrington ("Swag") and two other inmates. (274:98-99; 275:10-11; 278:34-36, 46, 51; App. 115-16, 145-47, 157, 162). The conversations were recorded within a week after Arrington was jailed on the homicide charge and while he was represented by counsel. (2; 178; 255;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mr. Santana-Hermida is referred to as Shorty in the brief to be consistent with how he was referred to at trial and elsewhere in the record.

Case 2019AP002065 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-20-2020 Page 10 of 56

275:10; App. 115). Without an objection from defense counsel, the jury heard Miller's testimony and portions of the recorded conversations. (178; 275:13-33; App. 118-38). From that, the jury learned, among other things, that Arrington did not tell Miller that it was Shorty who shot Mr. Gomez. (275:28; App. 133). Arrington did not tell Miller that he saw Shorty with a gun, that Shorty fired a gun or that it looked like Shorty was reaching for a gun. (275:19, 28, 30; App. 124, 133, 135).

Although the court instructed the jury on self-defense and lesser forms of homicide, the jury found Mr. Arrington guilty of first-degree intentional homicide and felon in possession of a firearm. (187; 275:165-71; 276:12-29). The court imposed a life sentence with parole eligibility after 35 years on the homicide and a concurrent prison sentence on the second count. (201; App. 101-04).

Mr. Arrington filed a postconviction motion alleging that the state violated his right to counsel when it used at trial statements its confidential informant obtained in recorded conversations with Arrington after Arrington had been charged and was represented by counsel. (219:1-14). Arrington sought a new trial due to ineffective assistance of counsel or plain error, or in the interests of justice. (219:10-14). Among the witnesses at the postconviction hearing were the two detectives who equipped Miller with the device. authorized recording him to record conversations with Arrington, and reviewed and kept as evidence what Miller obtained over the course of Case 2019AP002065 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-20-2020 Page 11 of 56

three days. (278:28-59; App. 139-48). The circuit court denied relief, concluding that Miller was not acting as an agent for the state when he recorded his conversations with Mr. Arrington. (247:3-9; App. 107-13).

#### Evidence at the Jury Trial

On Mr. Gomez the day was killed, had driven from Milwaukee Mr. Arrington Green Bay with a 17-year-old female, A.T. (271:135-39; 275:88-89). They picked up Devin Landrum (Ricco) and drove to a house on Day Street so Landrum could buy marijuana. (275:42-44).Arrington was driving, A.T. was in the front passenger seat and Landrum was in the back seat. (271:143-44). After Landrum returned to the car, Mr. Gomez walked around the side of a neighboring house and onto the front porch of that house, where he was met by Shorty. (271:146-47; 275:42, 92). A.T. testified that Shorty and Arrington exchanged words and seemed mad. (271:149). She said Arrington rolled down her window and fired three or more shots out the window toward the house. (271:149-50).Shorty did not testify at trial.

Landrum testified that as Shorty came to the door Shorty reached for his waist as though he was reaching for a weapon. (275:42). A.T. said she did not see Shorty or anyone else shooting at the car. (271:151-52). However, A.T. said it looked like Shorty was reaching for something when he opened the door. (271:184-85). Arrington testified that

Case 2019AP002065 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-20-2020 Page 12 of 56

Shorty was "going crazy" when he saw him and was "acting very aggressive, very intimidating ...." (271:93). It looked like Shorty was reaching for a gun. (271:94). At that point, Arrington fired three shots out the passenger side window toward the "feet area of the porch." (271:95).

Consistent with what Arrington told Detective Bradley Linzmeier about a year after the shooting (274:106-07), Arrington testified that as he was about to drive off he saw a gun in Shorty's hand. (275:97). Shorty fired the gun, and it looked like Shorty shot Mr. Gomez, who Arrington saw fall near the door. (275:97). A few days later, Arrington learned the police were looking for him and he turned himself in. (275:101).

Craig Taylor, a resident of the house where Mr. Gomez was killed, testified that earlier in the day he saw Arrington standing outside the house and then circling the block in a car. (271:52-53, 55). A.T. testified they had not circled the house. (271:181). Taylor said he heard about five shots, and he didn't see Shorty reach for anything, although Shorty was looking "straight ahead" at the parked car. (271:60). Taylor said he saw Mr. Gomez get hit by two bullets to his back. (271:62, 69). The medical examiner who performed the autopsy testified that Mr. Gomez was shot once in the chest. (273:14-15).

Erica Herrod testified that the night of the shooting, Arrington came to her home looking "[n]ervous" and "scared." (271:224). Arrington said

Case 2019AP002065 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-20-2020 Page 13 of 56

he "popped" someone and asked for bleach to wash up. (271:226). Arrington denied going to Herrod's (275:98). Her brother, Eugene house that night. Herrod, had rented the car that Arrington was driving when the shooting occurred. (271:246-49,254). Eugene had allowed Arrington to borrow it. (271:248-49). After the shooting, Eugene was locked up three times and told "if you don't say this, say that, basically you gonna go down for it." (271:265). At first, Eugene told the detectives he had only heard about the shooting through Facebook. (271:270).Eventually, he told detectives that on the night of the shooting Arrington called and said he "fanned Shorty down" at Taylor's house and the next day called again and said he got the wrong person, felt bad and would come back and "finish the job." (271:260)

The evidence was undisputed that Arrington and Shorty had a couple of confrontations in the weeks before the shooting. Taylor testified that Arrington was present when Shorty was robbed of his gun at Taylor's house. (271:47-50). He said a third man ordered Arrington to grab Shorty's machine gun, "so Swag grabbed it in confusion because he didn't know what was going on at this point, this was happening so suddenly." (271:48).After that incident, Shorty made threatening phone calls to Arrington, including one in which a witness said Shorty was "singing a lot of threats to the house we were in." (275:67, 82-83). Brittany Harris testified that about a week before the shooting she was with Arrington when Shorty attacked him with a knife Case 2019AP002065 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-20-2020 Page 14 of 56

through an open car window, cutting Arrington's lip. (273:120-30).

The state presented testimony from two men – James Allen and Christopher Howard - who said they spoke with Arrington after the stabbing. (274:194-209). Allen said that Arrington was "pretty pissed off" and said he was "going to fuck him up." (274:198). Howard said Arrington was "upset" and mentioned something about having to "handle his business ...." (274:206).Both men were facing federal charges with penalties ranging from 10 years to life for Allen and five to 40 years for Howard. Both men had entered into (274:200, 207-08).agreements with federal prosecutors under which their testimony would be taken into consideration in the resolution of their pending cases. (274:200-01, 208-09).

Mr. Arrington testified that he was scared of Shorty, particularly after his threats and after Shorty stabbed him. (275:119-22). He said he fired at the house because he feared for his safety and the safety of the other two in the car. (275:127).

Jason Miller, who was described in police reports as CI 355 (235), testified as the state's final witness about conversations he had with Arrington at the jail. (275:10-33; App. 115-38). The conversations occurred on April 11, 12 and 13, 2016, beginning nine days after the shooting on April 2 and three days after Arrington was taken into custody on April 8. The criminal complaint had been filed on April 6 and

Before he started talking with Arrington, Miller knew about Arrington's case from the news. (275:30-31; App. 135-36). In his testimony, Miller recounted their conversations, which included Miller reviewing the criminal complaint and advising Arrington about the state's evidence, and discussions about Arrington's interactions with Shorty and the shooting itself. (275:13-19; App. 118-24).

In the first excerpted recording played for the jury, Miller approached Arrington and asked if he wanted to read a magazine, and when Arrington declined, the conversation turned to Shorty and the evidence against Arrington. (234:1; App. 171).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>April 11: 1 hour, 25 minutes, 41 seconds; April 12: 33 minutes, 36 seconds; April 13: 1 hour, 7 minutes, 48 seconds. (178).

CI 355: Hey, my nigger, like you said, nigger, the only motherfucker that seen this shit was the bitch, Ricco, and Shorty. Shorty ain't gonna ice you. You think, you 100% for sure Ricco ain't gonna say nothing?

Arrington: Yeah, he ain't gonna say shit. Damn.

CI 355: So the only person you gotta worry about is the bitch. You know what I'm saying? You think she's gonna come to court? You just gotta holler at your sisters and them holler at that bitch, dog.

Arrington: Yeah, that's what I'm thinking ....

(275:19-21; 234:1; App. 124-26, 171).<sup>3</sup> Miller clarified for the jury that they were talking about convincing A.T. to not come to court. (275:21; App. 126).

In the second excerpt played for the jury, Miller and Arrington talked about the shooting and the incident where Shorty was robbed of a gun. (275:22-25; 234:5-6; App. 127-30, 175-76). Miller testified that Arrington was laughing about Shorty being scared when they stole his gun. (275:24; App. 129). Miller told Arrington that he had "embarrassed" Shorty. (275:23; App. 128). As to the shooting, the jury heard from the recording that Arrington said

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The portions played for the jury were not transcribed by the court reporter at trial. However, before trial the state had prepared a transcript of the April 13 recording, the only recording used at trial. That transcript was received into evidence at the postconviction hearing. (234; 278:27-28).

Case 2019AP002065 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-20-2020 Page 17 of 56

Shorty was "acting like a gorilla," which Miller said meant "overly aggressive," when he saw Arrington in the car. (275:23-24; 234:5; App. 128-29, 175). Arrington said Shorty's behavior "added the fuel to the fire ...." (234:5; App. 175).

CI 355: And when you pulled up, was he acting like he was a beast?

Arrington: Yeah. That's what added the fuel to the fire like when I seen him, I was gonna smash off but, dog, he just did the most.

CI 355: What'd he do?

Arrington: Dog was acting like a gorilla.

(234:5; App. 175).

In the third excerpt, Arrington told Miller that he "dumped the crib down," which Miller told the jury meant he kept shooting at the house (275:28; App. 133), because Shorty made a challenging gesture that reminded Arrington of being stabbed by him.

Arrington: It wasn't even that though. Nigger, when he was standing up there, nigger, you wanna know all that?

DI 355: What, he was talking shit?

Arrington: Hey, what's up. All I could picture was this nigger stabbing me in my face. It wasn't even none of that, shit.

CI 355: Ah, he told you, he was like what's up?

Case 2019AP002065 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-20-2020 Page 18 of 56

Arrington: Yeah, I'm talking about, he like, nigger, open the door, right. He opened the door to greet his mans, and they, they laughing and joking and whatever. Then he looked down, directly down and see me. Man, what's up? I don't know what else he was saying but, nigger.

CI 355: That's when you popped, knocked fire from their ass.

Arrington: I'm talking ...

CI 355: Hey, but see, it's fucked up because you ain't hit him. You hit the other nigger, you know what I'm saying?

Arrington: Right.

CI 355: See you, boy, your aim ain't shit.

Arrington: It wasn't that he, he, like as soon as I, he ducked away, you mean.

CI 355: Aw, he jumped?

Arrington: And I just dumped the crib down cuz I don't know if he gonna come back and dump me down, you mean, and then Ricco get into the car ...

CI 355: Right.

Arrington: ... I mean so he act ups on bro and the bitch, you mean.

CI 355: Damn.

Arrington: I can't just smash off and leave my brother, you mean.

Case 2019AP002065 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-20-2020 Page 19 of 56

CI 355: Right.

(234:22-23; App. 177-78).

The prosecutor also questioned Miller about what Arrington did not tell him.

Q When you were talking to Swag over the three days that you would be interacting with him from April 11<sup>th</sup>, 12<sup>th</sup>, and 13<sup>th</sup>, did Swag ever tell you that he saw Shorty with a gun in his hand?

A No.

Q Did he ever say that Shorty fired a gun?

A No.

Q Did he ever – did Swag ever tell you that actually Shorty shot ... Ricardo Gomez?

A No.

(275:19; App. 124).

In his cross-examination of Arrington, questioned prosecutor Arrington about his to Miller. (275:118,146, 151-58). statements Arrington admitted he didn't tell Miller that Shorty shot Mr. Gomez; he acknowledged making fun of Shorty even though he testified he was scared of him; he conceded that "fuel to the fire" could mean that it ticked him off; and "dumped the crib down" meant he was trying to prevent Shorty from shooting back, which the prosecutor characterized as a "[p]reventive attack." (275:118, 146, 153-54, 157-58).

Case 2019AP002065 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-20-2020 Page 20 of 56

#### Evidence at the Postconviction Hearing

Two detectives, Michael Wanta and Bradley Linzmeier, testified at the postconviction hearing about Miller's work for them as a confidential informant at the jail. In April of 2016, while Miller was jailed on Brown County charges, Miller's attorney notified the district attorney's office that Miller wanted to speak with law enforcement. (278:29; App. 140). The matter was assigned to Detective Wanta and his partner, Detective Linzmeier, who was the lead detective in Arrington's case. (278:28-29, 50; App. 139-40, 161). Wanta met with Miller at the jail several times beginning on April 6, 2016. (278:31, 33, 42; App. 142, 144, 153). Detective Linzmeier was present during at least one of those meetings prior to Miller making the recordings. (278:32, 50; App. 143, 161). Miller had previously worked as a confidential informant. (278:32-33; App. 143-44).

Initially, Miller indicated that he could obtain information from inmates Donald Moore and Antwon Powell regarding a homicide that did not involve Arrington. (278:29-30, 33-34, 44, 50-51; App. 140-41, 144-45, 155, 161-62). However, Miller told the detectives that Arrington, who arrived at the jail on April 8, was talking about his case and Miller believed Arrington would tell him things about his case. (278:34, 36, 47, 51; App. 145, 147, 162). Miller asked if he should record his conversations with Arrington, and the detectives told him he should. (278:36, 46, 51; App. 147, 157, 162). When the

Case 2019AP002065 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-20-2020 Page 21 of 56

recordings were made, Miller, Arrington, Moore and Powell were all housed in the same location in the jail, referred to as "Fox Pod." (278:33-34; App. 144-45).

On three days, April 11, 12 and 13, Detective Wanta supplied jail staff with a two-by-two inch digital recorder that was tucked into a band around Miller's waist. (278:36-37; App. 147-48). Miller was able to turn the device on and off at will. (278:37; App. 148). Wanta would retrieve the recording device each night, and in the morning he would review the recording and transfer the contents to a CD that was placed into evidence. (278:38-39; App. 149-50). Wanta would also provide Detective Linzmeier with copies of the CD's and brief him on what appeared on the tapes regarding Arrington. (278:47, 52-53; App. 158, 163-64).

postconviction hearing, Arrington testified that the three conversations Miller recorded all occurred between the metal door of a jail cell that had a window and a trap opening. (278:62, 64-66). At that time, Arrington was allowed out of his cell one hour a day and Miller was allowed out four hours (278:62-63).On April 11 and 13, the a day. began when Miller conversations approached Arrington's cell door, and on April 12, Miller called Arrington over to his cell while Arrington was in the day room. While Arrington was (278:64-66). speaking to Miller at the jail, he did not know that Miller was an informant for the police, and he did not Case 2019AP002065 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-20-2020 Page 22 of 56

know Miller was wearing a recording device. (278:63-64).

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