**FILED** 11-03-2021 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT** 

Filed 11-03-2021

# STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2019AP2065-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

Case 2019AP002065

RICHARD MICHAEL ARRINGTON,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN BROWN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY A. HINKFUSS, PRESIDING

# **BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF** PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT-PETITIONER

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARA LYNN SHAEFFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1087785

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner

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

The court of appeals noted that "Gray was never under the direction or control of the government, and there was no Gray received instructions evidence that from government about Lewis or anyone else in the Waukesha County jail. Nor was he ever a paid informant." *Id.* ¶ 20. The court of appeals "refuse[d] to extend the rule of *Massiah* and *Henry* to situations where an individual, acting on his [or her] own initiative, deliberately elicits incriminating information."  $Id. \ \ 23$  (citation omitted).

Rather, the court of appeals adopted the rationale and language in *United States v. Surridge*, 687 F.2d 250, 255 (8th Cir. 1982). In *Surridge*, the Eighth Circuit explained the point of *Henry*, 447 U.S. 264, which is "the significance of government payment which would evidence an agreement":

[T]he key issue is the extent of government involvement. When the government pays the informant, it is evidence (although not conclusive) that a prior agreement between the government and the informant existed, whether that agreement was explicit or implicit. In the instant case, the police did nothing after the meeting to give a benefit to Spencer which would have evidenced an implicit agreement between Spencer and the police.

Lewis, 324 Wis. 2d 536, ¶ 22 (quoting Surridge, 687 F.2d at 254). Adopting the rationale of Surridge, the court of appeals determined that "[t]he fact that the government might know an informant 'hopes' to receive a benefit as a result of providing information does not translate into an implicit agreement between the government and the informant if the informant is thereafter placed into an environment where incriminating information can be obtained." Id. ¶ 23. It concluded: "If there is just 'hope' and nothing else, then the informant cannot be construed to be a government agent, eliciting a statement in violation of the Sixth Amendment." Id. ¶ 23.

The *Lewis* Court also rejected the defendant's argument that the government had an affirmative duty to separate him from a known jailhouse informant. *Lewis*, 324 Wis. 2d 536, ¶ 26. Again quoting *Surridge*, the *Lewis* Court determined that as long as police do not direct, control, or involve themselves in the questioning, there is no Sixth Amendment violation:

"[W]hen a person offers to assist the police, we do not think the police must try to stop the person from providing assistance. As long as the police do nothing to direct or control or involve themselves in the questioning of a person in custody by a private citizen,

such questioning does not violate the [F]ifth or [S]ixth Amendments.

Lewis, 324 Wis. 2d 536, ¶ 25 (quoting Surridge, 687 F.2d at 255). The *Lewis* Court concluded, "[t]he italicized portion says it all and is the holding of this court." *Id*.

#### Defense counsel was not deficient for 3. failing to object.

Filed 11-03-2021

While the facts in Lewis are the most similar to Arrington's case, neither *Lewis* nor the Supreme Court cases concern a situation where a jailhouse inmate, acting on his own initiative and in the hopes of receiving consideration, approaches police and asks if he should record a person in custody, and the police provide the inmate with a recording device.

No Wisconsin court has ever determined whether the circumstances like the ones involved in this case constitute a violation of one's Sixth Amendment right to counsel. The only reported Wisconsin case that has discussed statements obtained by a jail informant is *Lewis*, 324 Wis. 2d 536, which determined there was no Sixth Amendment violation. Id. ¶¶ 23, 25. Indeed, the way that this case has evolved supports the State's position that whether the circumstances involved in this case constitute a Sixth Amendment violation is unsettled: the circuit court, after conducting a Machner hearing and issuing multiple findings, concluded there was no Sixth Amendment violation. (R. 247:3, 7.) But the court of appeals, without determining that any of the court's findings were clearly erroneous, reversed and concluded that there was a "a clear violation." (Pet-App. 120.) In doing so, the court of appeals opined that defense counsel's failure to seek suppression "fell far below an objective standard of reasonableness" because defense counsel "simply missed the issue." (Pet-App. 119, 120.) But this again shows that this area of the law is not settled.

Filed 11-03-2021

Counsel cannot be ineffective, however, for failing to raise an argument—even one that might have been successful—premised on a novel legal analysis. Breitzman, 378 Wis. 2d 431, ¶ 49. Here, defense counsel testified at the *Machner* hearing that before trial he was aware that Miller had been working as a confidential informant. (R. 278:9, 23.) He was also aware that Arrington was represented by counsel before Miller recorded Arrington. (R. 278:10-11.) At no time did he move to suppress the recordings; he had not considered or researched the issue. (R. 278:11.) He testified that had he been aware of the cases in Arrington's postconviction motion, he would have brought a motion to suppress. (R. 278:21–22.) But Arrington's 17-page postconviction motion devoted one sentence to State v. Lewis, and it did not point out that the Lewis Court "refused to extend the rule of Massiah and Henry to situations where an individual, acting on his [or her] own initiative, deliberately elicits incriminating information." Lewis, 324 Wis. 2d 536, ¶¶ 22, 23. (R. 219:8.) Defense counsel's failure to move to suppress on Sixth Amendment grounds in this case was not "outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance" sufficient to satisfy the Sixth Amendment because it was a novel issue. See Breitzman, 378 Wis. 2d 431, ¶ 49.

Because this is an issue of ineffective assistance of counsel, this Court need not reach the merits of Arrington's Sixth Amendment claim. But if this Court chooses to consider the claim on the merits, it should determine there was no right-to-counsel violation.

II. Arrington's Sixth Amendment claim fails on the merits because no case prohibits the police from utilizing statements obtained from an unpaid jailhouse informant who approached police about recording another inmate in the hopes of receiving a benefit.

The court of appeals erroneously concluded that the State violated Arrington's right to counsel because "[w]hat matters is that law enforcement exhibited direction and control here, as the detectives knew what Miller would be doing and that he was seeking consideration for his efforts." (Pet-App. 117.) But whether the detectives knew that Miller would be recording Arrington and hoping for consideration is not "what matters" for determining whether there was a right-to-counsel violation. Rather, as will be shown below, what matters is that a defendant have evidence of (1) a "prior formal agreement" between the informant and police, and (2) the police "direct[ed] or control[led] or involve[d] themselves in the questioning of a person in custody." Lewis, 324 Wis. 2d 536, ¶¶ 1, 25 (quoting Surridge, 687 F.2d at 255). Arrington has neither.

A. Under *Lewis*, a cellmate's hope to receive a benefit "does not translate into an implicit agreement," and in that situation the informant "cannot be construed to be a government agent."

Adopting the rationale of *Surridge*, the *Lewis* Court determined that "[t]he fact that the government might know an informant 'hopes' to receive a benefit as a result of providing information does not translate into an implicit agreement between the government and the informant if the informant is thereafter placed into an environment where incriminating information can be obtained." *Lewis*, 324 Wis. 2d 536, ¶ 23. It concluded: "If there is just 'hope' and nothing else, then the informant cannot be construed to be a

Filed 11-03-2021

government agent, eliciting a statement in violation of the Sixth Amendment." Id. ¶ 23.

That is the situation we have here. There was no explicit or implicit prior formal agreement. The undisputed testimony from Detective Wanta was that he was aware that Miller was seeking consideration, but that he was not involved because "[t]hat is done by the District Attorney." (R. 278:32.) Similarly, Detective Linzmeier's undisputed testimony was, "that's not what we do in our position. That is through the attorneys." (R. 278:58.) Accordingly, these circuit court's findings are not clearly erroneous: the detectives "made no promises to Mr. Miller that the fact that he was giving information would lead to a reduced sentence;" the "police never made any promise to Mr. Miller in terms of what he will receive for his cooperation;" and "Miller was acting with the hope that the prosecutors in his case would give him a more lenient sentence which is very similar to the confidential informant in *Lewis*." (R. 247:5–6.)

Lewis requires that the defendant have evidence of "a prior formal agreement," and the court of appeals pointed to none. Indeed, the court of appeals even acknowledged in its opinion that "it was not specified what the consideration would be." (Pet-App. 116.) Arrington offered no evidence of any understanding or benefit conferred upon Miller in exchange for recording Arrington. All the court of appeals could point to, time and again, was that the detectives "knew" that Miller was seeking consideration. (Pet-App. 116–18.) Under Lewis, that is not enough. 324 Wis. 2d 536, ¶¶ 1, 22, 23. As Lewis noted, the hope of a benefit is not the same as a *promise* of a benefit. *Id.* ¶ 23. Like the jailhouse cellmate in *Lewis*, Miller was "promised nothing." *Id.* ¶ 11. Indeed, Miller was not told of any consideration he might receive until well after the recordings were made (R. 237), not "prior." Arrington simply fails to provide any evidence of a "prior formal agreement" between the State and Miller.

Filed 11-03-2021

While the court of appeals determined that "[t]here is no need to have consideration at all, let alone consideration spelled out in advance" (Pet-App. 117), the State agrees. See Lewis, 324 Wis. 2d 536, ¶ 25 n.3. But what Arrington still must show under Lewis is evidence "of both an agreement between the government and the inmate and control or directions by the government." *Id.* Here, the court of appeals pointed to no prior formal agreement. (Pet-App. 117.)

The postconviction court got it right: "Miller was cooperating with the government because of a hope that he would receive a reduced sentence, and the government was under no obligation to turn him away when he asked to help." (R. 247:7.) He was "the classic entrepreneur, seeking to market his information without any advance arrangement." See State v. Marshall, 882 N.W.2d 68, 101 (Iowa 2016). Because there was no prior implicit or explicit formal agreement, Arrington fails to show a Sixth Amendment violation.

Under Lewis, "[a]s long as the police do В. nothing to direct or control or involve themselves in the questioning of a person in custody by a private citizen. questioning does not violate the [F]ifth or [S]ixth Amendments."

Police cannot use a jailhouse cellmate to deliberately elicit incriminatory statements "by investigatory techniques that are the equivalent of direct police interrogation." Lewis, 324 Wis. 2d 536, ¶ 1. In addition to having evidence of a "prior formal agreement," this also requires that a defendant provide evidence that police directed, controlled, or involved themselves in Arrington's questioning. Lewis, 324 Wis. 2d 536, ¶¶ 1, 25. As the audio recordings, testimony, and circuit court findings show, that didn't happen here. (R. 178; 278:28– 60.)

Here, it is undisputed testimony that the detectives did nothing to direct, control, or involve themselves in Miller's questioning of Arrington. As the postconviction court found:

- Miller "<u>voluntarily</u> contributing information to the police which prompted the police to have a discussion with [Miller] about being a confidential informant."
- "The police never approached Mr. Miller about recording Mr. Arrington."
- Miller "voluntarily asked the police if he should record any information from Mr. Arrington, and the detective informed him that he could record such conversations."
- "Miller made requests to speak to law enforcement. Not vice versa."
- "Arrington began talking to Mr. Miller about his case without Mr. Miller prompting the conversation."
- "The police could not listen in on any conversation, and had not told what questions Mr. Miller should ask Mr. Arrington."
- "Arrington volunteered information to Mr. Miller without being prompted by him."
- Miller had ability to turn off the recorder and was under "no obligation" to record.

### (R. 247:4-6.)

These findings are not clearly erroneous, nor did the court of appeals determine that any of the circuit court findings were clearly erroneous. The evidence is undisputed that the officers did not control, instruct, or involve themselves in Miller's questioning of Arrington. See Lewis, 324 Wis. 2d 536, ¶¶ 1, 25. While the court of appeals determined that there was "control here, as the detectives knew what Miller would be doing and he was seeking consideration for his efforts" (Pet-App. 117 (emphasis added)),

Filed 11-03-2021

as demonstrated above, knowing that Miller was going to record and that he was hoping for consideration does not equate to government "control" under any caselaw. Nor is "control" providing Miller with what he asked for: the ability to record. (Pet-App. 117.) Again, as the circuit court found, "The police . . . had not told what questions Mr. Miller should ask Mr. Arrington." (R. 247:5.)

Arrington fails to show evidence that the police "deliberately elicited" incriminatory statements from him "by investigatory techniques that are the equivalent of direct police interrogation." See Massiah, 377 U.S. at 206; Lewis, 324 Wis. 2d 536, ¶ 1. Here, the police did "nothing to direct or control or involve themselves in the questioning of [Arrington] by [Miller]," and so "such questioning does not violate the [F]ifth or [S]ixth Amendments." Lewis, 324 Wis. 2d 536, ¶ 25 (quoting Surridge, 687 F.2d at 255).

#### C. If this Court determines that the recordings should have been suppressed, then any error was harmless.

The erroneous admission of evidence in violation of a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to counsel is subject to a harmless error analysis. Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 681 (1986). See State v. Dyess, 124 Wis. 2d 525, 544, 370 N.W.2d 222 (1985) (with the exception of the burden shifting, the test for harmless error is essentially consistent with the test for prejudice in an ineffective assistance of counsel claim). "To determine whether an error is harmless, this court inquires whether the State can prove beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error[]." State v. Jorgensen, 2008 WI 60, ¶ 23, 310 Wis. 2d 138, 754 N.W.2d 77 (citation omitted):

This court has identified several factors to assist in determining whether an error is harmless: (1) the frequency of the error; (2) the importance of the erroneously admitted evidence; (3) the presence or

Filed 11-03-2021

absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the erroneously admitted evidence; (4) whether the erroneously admitted evidence duplicates untainted evidence; (5) the nature of the defense; (6) the nature of the State's case; and (7) the overall strength of the State's case.

Id.

Here, if the court finds there was error, the State meets its burden of proving it was harmless. Defense counsel failed once to object to the admission of the recordings. (R. 275:7.) While the State discussed the recordings during closing argument, the recordings did not bring anything that Miller's testimony alone would not. The importance was minimal. Also, the evidence was cumulative because it was corroborated by other witnesses. (R. 275:54, 59–61; 271:260, 263, 147–49, 151–52, 45, 48–49, 55, 57, 60, 62, 63.) The recordings did not duplicate untainted evidence; as the court of appeals noted, the self-defense theory included other selfdefense evidence. (Pet-App. 121–22.) Further, the State could have relied on Miller's testimony and not the recordings. And, finally, the other evidence against Arrington overwhelming.9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> On this final factor, the State incorporates the facts and arguments made in Section I.B. For the same reasons Arrington cannot show prejudice, the State shows the error was harmless because of the overwhelming evidence of his guilt.

The State requests that this Court reverse the court of appeals decision and reinstate Arrington's conviction of firstdegree intentional homicide.

Dated this 3rd day of November 2021.

Respectfully submitted,

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

Filed 11-03-2021

Electronically signed by:

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